Recl 4-8-13 Mobjection KK

COPY RECEIVED

APR - 8 2013

Law Office of Paul B. Mack

No. 308511

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD T. WIXOM, Petitioner-Father-Appellant,

v.

LINDA B. WIXOM, Respondent-Mother.

Robert E. Caruso, Appellant-Judgment Debtor.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert E. Caruso, WSBA # 29338

CARUSO LAW OFFICES

Attorneys for Appellant Richard T. Wixom and Appellant-Judgment Debtor Robert E. Caruso 1426 W Francis Ave. 2nd Floor Spokane Washington 99205

(509) 323-5210

I. Assignments of Error and Their Issues

A. Assignments of Error (AE)

- 1. Linda Wixom is in full compliance with her federal probation and all court ordered requirements. [CP 1111, Finding 68.]
- 2. Richard Wixom . . . has no specific evidence of examples of instances of violations of her probation. [CP 1112, Finding 71.]
- 3. Linda Wixom's substantial compliance with the deferred prosecution for over two years makes the possibility of incarceration even more remote than it would have been in 2009. . . . [CP 1114, Finding 88.]
- 4. The evidence is uncontroverted that [A.W.]'s experimentation with drugs occurred while he was primarily residing with Richard Wixom. There is no evidence that [T.W.]'s experimentation with marijuana was while she was in Linda Wixom's home or that Linda Wixom was even aware she had used marijuana until T.W. disclosed it to the GAL. There is no evidence to suggest that either [A.W. or T.W.] have continued their drug experimentation during the last year. The drug use of [A.W. or T.W.] cannot be a basis to find there is a detriment to [J.W.]'s wellbeing in Linda Wixom's home. [CP 1114, Finding 90.]
- 5. There was nothing presented to the Court that would suggest [J.W.] is exposed to violent tendencies of his older brother in his Mother's home or anything to suggest that the behaviors between siblings are any different

than sibling rivalries and roughhousing that occurs in any home in America. [CP 1114, Finding 91.]

- 6. . . . There is no evidence to suggest that [A.W.] has ever caused [J.W.] to flinch or be harmed in his mother's care. [CP 1114, Finding 92.]
- 7. There is no evidence [J.W.] is in fear of his safety with [A.W.] or any of the other children in Linda Wixom's home. [CP 1114-5, Finding 93.]
- 8. The GAL [saw J.W.] sitting on [A.W.]'s lap while they made necklaces . . . during the home visit. [CP 1115, Finding 94.]
- 9. Linda Wixom corrected her deposition testimony . . . to try to mitigate the effects of her inaccurate statement. [CP 1119, Finding 129.]
- 10. The court finds that Linda Wixom misunderstood the distinction between "charged" and "convicted." . . . Linda Wixom has been candid and upfront regarding her drug addiction, the Board of Pharmacy actions, the WRAPP program involvement, and her deferred sentence in the federal case. [CP 1119, Finding 131.]
- 11. It is highly unlikely Linda Wixom would freely discuss these federal charges and her probation with the GAL and then naively believe she could deceive the Court or Mr. Caruso by denying she had ever been charged federally. [CP 1119, Finding 132.]
- 12. The Court is satisfied Linda Wixom did not intend to deceive anyone when she denied being charged with a crime and corrected it when she

- signed her deposition. . . . [CP 1119, Finding 133.]
- 13. Richard Wixom said he did not know about Linda Wixom's potential criminal charges and probation in court yet he had admitted to knowing about them in prior declaration. [CP 1119, Finding 135.]
- 14. Richard Wixom testified Linda Wixom had violated her probation, which was not true. [CP 1119, Finding 136.]
- 15. Richard Wixom freely admitted he fictitiously told his employer he was calling on clients while he was jet-skiing with [J.W.]. While this last statement to his employer was not made under oath, it does go to his truthfulness. [CP 1119, Finding 137.]
- 16. Mr. Caruso insinuated Ms. Lund was biased in favor of Linda Wixom when Ms. Lund used the word "we" when discussing a court appearance for an ex parte restraining order. Ms. Lund testified at trial she used the word "we" to reference the fact that Mr. Caruso, Ms. Swennumson, and Ms. Lund were in a hearing. . . . [CP 1119-1120, Finding 140.]
- 17. There is absolutely no evidence to suggest Ms. Lund was biased towards or aligned with one side [CP 1120, Finding 141.]
- 18. Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso assert that Linda Wixom violated the parenting plan and should be held accountable when she did not give Richard Wixom at least two days notice that she would be late picking up [J.W.] on July 29, 2011. Linda Wixom did not give two days notice that

she would be late. . . . [CP 1121, Finding 151.]

- 19. Linda Wixom's attorney proposed in a letter that Linda Wixom would pick up [J.W.] at 5:00 pm on July 29, 2011. Linda Wixom emailed Richard Wixom that she would be late because she could not get off at 5:00 pm on July 29, 2011. Richard Wixom acknowledged receiving the email on July 28, 2011. [CP 1121, Finding 152]
- 20. To argue that testifying a phone call was made at 6:00 pm when in fact the telephone records show the call began at 5:59 pm is fraud is the most extremely unreasonable position the Court has witnessed taken by any attorney in any case in its courtroom. [CP 1121, Finding 157.]
- 21. There is no evidence to suggest Linda Wixom had any reason to believe [J.W.] would not be available for her when she arrived to pick [J.W.] up on July 29, 2011. She sent Richard Wixom an email the day before advising him she could not be there at 5:00 pm but that she would be there by 6:00 pm. [CP 1121, Finding 160.]
- 22. Richard Wixom did not respond to the email or object to her notice. He did not tell her he had to be at church that night and give her the opportunity to pick [J.W.] up from church. [CP 1121-1122, Finding 161.]
- 23. Mr. Caruso and Richard Wixom decided to take advantage of the fact that Linda Wixom would be late to pick up [J.W.]. [CP 1122, FOF 165.]
- 24. Richard Wixom contacted his attorney at 4:00 pm on July 29, 2011.

[CP 1122, Finding 166.]

- 25. Mr. Caruso called the GAL and left a message for her at 4:15 pm on July 29, 2011 that [J.W.] would probably not be at the home visit the following day because Mr. Caruso and Richard Wixom knew [J.W.] was not going to be delivered to Linda Wixom that evening. [CP 1122, Finding 167.]
- 26. Richard Wixom borrowed another vehicle so he could take [J.W.] from the family home and decrease the likelihood Linda Wixom could locate [J.W.] at church and retrieve him. [CP 1122, Finding 169.]
- 27. Linda Wixom arrived at Richard Wixom's home between 5:40 pm and 5:45 pm on July 29, 2011 and Richard Wixom was already gone. She spent several minutes waiting in the car for [J.W.] to arrive, went to the house and knocked on the doors and windows before coming to the conclusion that something was awry. [CP 1122, Finding 170.]
- 28. Linda Wixom began calling Richard Wixom at 5:57 pm after being at Richard Wixom's house for several minutes. [CP 1122, Finding 171.]
- 29. If Richard Wixom was still at him home at 5:57 or 5:58 pm as Richard Wixom testified, Linda Wixom would have seen him and would have been able to pick up [J.W.]. [CP 1122, Finding 172.]
- 30. Richard Wixom's cell phone was in his car at 5:20 pm. If Richard Wixom did drive away from his house at 5:57 pm or 5:58 pm, he would

have been in the car when Linda Wixom began calling. [CP 1122-3, Finding 173.]

31. It does not make sense that Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso knew at 4:15 pm that day that [J.W.] would not be in Linda Wixom's care the following day unless Richard Wixom knew Linda Wixom could not find him at the church event and pick [J.W.] up from there. Richard Wixom knew Linda Wixom would be unable to find him because he knew he was going to be in a car unrecognizable to Linda Wixom. [CP 1123, FOF 174.] 32. The Court finds there is no good excuse for Richard Wixom not calling Linda Wixom to tell her he was not going to wait or that he was going to take [J.W.] with him to his church activity. [CP 1123, FOF 175.] 33. Richard Wixom could have responded to Linda Wixom's email the day before. [CP 1123, Finding 176.]

34. There was no excuse for Richard Wixom failing to call Linda Wixom that night or the next day. There is no excuse not to answer Linda Wixom's calls, to let her know that [J.W.] was safe and to arrange for her to pick [J.W.] up for the GAL home visit scheduled for July 30, 2011. Richard Wixom testified he did not respond to Linda Wixom's messages that weekend because he was busy and later said it was not his obligation. [CP 1123, Finding 177.]

35. This was a calculated decision by Richard Wixom to sabotage the

GAL's investigation, to keep [J.W.] for as much time as he could, and to begin engaging in a course of conduct that was intended to harass or increase the cost of this litigation. That course of conduct continued through trial. [CP 1123, Finding 178.]

- 36. This was an all-out war against Linda Wixom from that time through trial. [CP 1123, Finding 182.]
- 37. Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso engaged in a course of conduct that was not in good faith beginning in late July 2011 and continued through trial. [CP 1123, Finding 183.]
- 38. Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso pursued allegation and innuendos not well-grounded in fact. Instead these allegations and innuendos were interposed for the improper purpose of harassing and causing unnecessary and needless increase in the cost of litigation. [CP 1123, Finding 184.]
- 39. There has been an ongoing attempt by Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso to harass, embarrass, threaten, and intimidate the GAL, the Court Commissioner, and Linda Wixom herself. [CP 1124, Finding 185.]
- 40... the Court cannot recall a case so devoid of merit and so full of misdirection and meritless arguments. [CP 1124, Finding 186.]
- 41. The Court cannot ignore the behaviors of Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso as to do so would not be honoring the oath of office the Court took. [CP 1124, Finding 187.]

- 42. There is a basis for Linda Wixom to receive CR 11 sanctions and attorney's fees based upon intransigence against Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso. [CP 1124, Finding 188.]
- 43. It was unconscionable for Richard Wixom to wait until the afternoon of the last day of trial to disclose he was not requesting residential time with [T.W.] and that he agreed with the GAL's recommendations. He only did this when directly asked by the Court. [CP 1124, Finding 190.]
- 44. Had Richard Wixom conceded Linda Wixom's petition before the end of trial, then Mr. Caruso would have begun his case for Richard Wixom's petition to modify first. Richard Wixom and Mr. Caruso could have used the first three trial days developing whatever evidence they might have had to support the alleged detriment in Linda Wixom's home. [CP 1124, Finding 192.]
- 45. Had Richard Wixom conceded Linda Wixom's petition before the end of trial, the GAL may not have spent three days on the stand since Richard Wixom likely would not have called her in his case-in-chief since he disagreed with most of her findings and recommendations. [CP 1124, Finding 193.]
- 46. Had Richard Wixom conceded Linda Wixom's petition before the end of trial, the Court likely would have dismissed Richard Wixom's petition at the conclusion of his case because the evidence he presented, even

looked at in the light most favorable to him, likely would not have risen to the level necessary to prevail on his petition to modify. [CP 1124, Finding 194.]

- 47. Linda Wixom spent tens of thousands of dollars to pursue her petition that was not contested and to defend a petition filed by Richard Wixom that is without merit. [CP 1124, Finding 195.]
- 48. This case was thoroughly investigated by one of Spokane County's most experienced Guardian ad Litems. She wrote two reports that totaled over 70 pages. She testified for three court days on the stand. She was not able to find any evidence of detriment in Linda Wixom's home. [CP 1115, Finding 97.]
- 49. If it is [T.W. and A.W.] who are completely out of control, this Court would expect to see other signs of dysfunction in their lives. There is no evidence that either of them has been involved in the criminal justice system. There is no evidence that either one of them has been using drugs beyond typical teenage experimentation. When Richard and Angel Wixom tested [A.W.] for drug use he tested negative. CP 1115, FOF 100.
- 50. Mr. Caruso made numerous representations to the Court and offers of proof that were never lived up to. A few examples are as follows: a. Mr. Caruso represented a witness would testify that [A.W.] was six foot two or three inches and 245 pounds and that he doubled the size of [J.W.]. b. It

was represented that Angel Wixom would testify about her center line and how the Wixom children did not know about it so they could not report it to the GAL. c. It was represented Angel Wixom would deny she ever described her medical condition to the GAL and any evidence of her condition made by the GAL violated Angel Wixom's HIPPA rights. d. It was represented that evidence would be presented that Linda Wixom accessed Angel Wixom's confidential medical records that were available to her as a pharmacist and that she routinely looked up famous people's profiles at random. e. It was represented that Ron Miles (Spokane County Superior Court Administrator) would be called to testify that Linda Wixom left portions of her juror qualification statement blank and that she was otherwise ineligible to serve as a juror. [CP 1125-1126, Concl. 7.] 51. The Court finds and concludes there was a conspiracy in this case. The conspiracy was between Mr. Caruso and Richard Wixom to wage an allout war against Linda Wixom, her attorneys, the GAL, and the Court. [CP 1126, Concl. 9.]

52. Under ER 410, as I am reading it and understand this rule, evidence of a plea of guilty later withdrawn — which is what we have in Exhibit P-10 -- or of any statements made in connection with and relevant to any of the foregoing pleas or offers is not admissible in any civil or criminal proceeding against the person who made the plea or offer. So I think ER

410 excludes from admissibility P-10 so I'll grant that motion. [RP 800-1.] I'm going to grant the motion to strike on P-10. So P-10 now based on that ruling is not admitted. (Exhibit P-10 rejected.)

THE CLERK: Withdrawn or rejected?

THE COURT: Rejected. It wasn't withdrawn. It was over objection.

[RP 801]

53. Caruso insinuated she may be subject to a potential lawsuit and/or bar complaint for allegedly disseminating Angel Wixom's federally-protected and private health and medical information by including details about Angel Wixom's medical conditions in her GAL Report. Ms. Lund had a full release signed by Angel Wixom and never reviewed any medical records of Angel Wixom. Ms. Lund testified the information regarding Angel Wixom's medical conditions came from Angel Wixom. [CP 1111, Finding 61.]

B. Issues Related to Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court rejected Linda Wixom's Guilty Plea on the basis of ER 410 after Linda Wixom twice chose not to object to it on that basis: when it was first offered at trial and in her ER 904 objection. AE 52.
- 2. Because Linda Wixom did not explain her putative deposition corrections at the time, this Court should reject them. AE 9-12.
 - 3. The trial court made several findings against undisputed evidence.

AE 1-8, 13-14, 16-21, 46, & 50.

- 4. The trial court made several findings without competent evidence or in violation of ER 605. AE 5, 22-41, 44, 46-49, 51, & 53.
- 5. Without properly analysis as to attorney fees for intransigence and as to attorney fees under CR 11 against either Appellant, the trial court erred in awarding them. AE 15, 20, 37-38, 42, 43, & 45.
- 6. Even if—under argument, not conceded—any fees and costs were appropriate, the trial court unreasonably awarded improper fees and costs against the Appellants.

II. Statement of the Case

Linda Wixom and Richard Wixom married on September 7, 1991. CP 16. Linda Wixom is a pharmacist. CP 48. Linda Wixom was fired from her employment as a pharmacist in April 2007 because her employer caught her stealing pain medications. CP 89.

They separated on August 13, 2007. CP 16. Their marriage was dissolved on March 3, 2009. CP 28. They have three children together. CP 18. A final parenting plan was entered for the children of the parties. CP 1.

A.W. was scheduled to reside with the father. CP 2. The other two children, T.W. and J.W., were scheduled to reside with the mother. CP 2.

The U. S. Government charged Linda Wixom criminally with one count of obtaining a controlled substance by fraud, forgery, deception, and

subterfuge and two counts of making and using a false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement or entry in connection with delivery of health benefit items. Exhibit P-4 (citing 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(3) and 18 U.S.C. § 1035(a)(2)). Linda Wixom pled guilty. RP 769:3 ("I did plead guilty initially, yes."); P-10 ("I plead guilty because I am guilty.") CP 776:7-8.

The Drug Enforcement Agency does not allow "registrants (people with DEA numbers such as doctors, pharmacies, hospitals, clinics)" to employ individuals who have been convicted of certain offenses. Exhibit R-306, page 2, lines 3-5 (citing 21 C.F.R. § 1301.76(a)). Linda Wixom moved to withdraw her guilty plea agreement which "contained no advisement regarding debarment under federal statutes involving" the DEA and HHS. Exhibit R-306, 1:23-24 (citing 21 U.S.C. § 1862(a) and (b)). The court granted her motion because the plea "did not address the severe and unanticipated hardship of debarment [] resulting in [future] exclusion from her livelihood as a pharmacist." Exhibit R-307, 1:19-23.

Linda Wixom filed a petition for modification on February 8, 2011. CP 34. Later, Richard Wixom filed his own counter-petition. CP 167-171.

Linda Wixom was deposed on September 1, 2011. CP 846. At the deposition, Mr. Caruso laid "a few ground rules." CP 848:18. Mr. Caruso told Linda Wixom to tell him if she did not understand a question. CP 849:1-7. Mr. Caruso also asked whether she was taking any medicine "that

would interfere with your ability to comprehend questions []?" CP 849:24-850:2. Linda Wixom's answer was, "No." CP 850:3.

"Q. Ever been charged with anything?" CP 855:1. "A. No." CP 855:2 (showing no sign that she did not understand or was confused). Charges could include criminal or administrative charges. The mother denied under oath that she had ever been charged with anything.

Linda Wixom executed putative corrections to her sworn deposition. A correction was as follows: "Page 10, L. 2 I was charged but not convicted." CP 1007. Linda Wixom omitted the Health Department's charges of unprofessional conduct from her putative corrections.

On August 4, 2011, the trial court amended the Domestic Case Schedule with trial set for November 7, 2011. CP 307. ER 904 requires the filing and service of a notice "no less than 30 days before trial." ER 904(b). On October 7, 2011, 31 days before trial, Mr. Wixom filed and served his ER 904 Notice which identified 38 documents. CP 631-635.

The mother stipulated to 2 of the 38 exhibits. CP 680. She objected to her Guilty Plea Agreement, P-10, on the bases of "Relevance; violative of ER 1005." CP 678. Linda Wixom objected to P-10 on no other basis.

A party need not object on relevancy until trial. ER 904(c)(2). Her second objection was ER 1005. She inexplicably chose not to object to her Guilty Plea Agreement on the basis of ER 410.

At trial, the Guilty Plea Agreement was admitted as P-10 without objection. RP 769:10-14. Linda Wixom later moved to strike P-10. RP 791:7 ("I don't think it's admissible."). The trial court granted the motion on the basis of ER 410 and rejected P-10. RP 801.

III. Argument

Standards of Review. Mixed issues of law and fact are involved in a ruling under ER 410. State v. Nowinski, 124 Wn.App. 617, 621 (2004). For this reason, the standard of review for such rulings is de novo. <u>Id</u>.

Trial court rulings on admissibility of evidence are generally reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Brouillet v. Cowles Pub'g Co., 114 Wn.2d 788, 801 (1990). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds. Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 801 (1993). "Abuse of discretion is discretion exercised on untenable grounds for untenable reasons." State v. Sanchez, 60 Wn. App. 687, 696 (1991).

When an appellate court reviews a district court's factual findings, [a] court of appeals would be justified in concluding that a district court had abused its discretion in making a factual finding only if the finding were clearly erroneous.

Cooter & Gell v. Hartmax Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 401 (1990) (discussing the standard of review for imposition of sanctions under Fed.R.Civ.P. 11).

A trial court abuses its discretion when its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. A trial court would

necessarily abuse its discretion if it based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law.

Washington State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn. 2d 299, 339 (1993) (footnotes and citations omitted). A district court that makes legal errors abuses "its discretion." Cooter & Gell, 496 U.S. at 402.

- A. The trial court rejected Linda Wixom's Guilty Plea Agreement on the basis of ER 410 despite her choice not to object to it when it was first offered at trial and her choice not to object to it on the basis of ER 410 in her ER 904 objection. This Court should reject this erroneous ruling. AE 52.
- 1. Because Linda Wixom chose not to object to her guilty plea when it was first offered, she waived any objections forever.

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