COA No. 30851-1-III



DEC 0 6 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON BY

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

RICHARD T. WIXOM,

Appellant,

٧.

LINDA B. WIXOM,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kenneth H. Kato, WSBA # 6400 Attorney for Respondent 1020 N. Washington St. Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 220-2237

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

State v. Woolworth, 30 Wn. App. 901, 639 P.2d 216 (1981)4
Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959)
United States v. Mezzanatto, 513 U.S. 196, 115 S. Ct. 797, 130 L. Ed.2d 697 (1995)5
United States v. Ready, 82 F.3d 551 (2 nd Cir. 1996)5
Statutes
RCW 9A.72.16019
RCW 26.09.14027
Rules
CR 1116, 21, 22, 23
ER 410
ER 9043
ER 10053
RAP 18.928

1. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. With respect to assignments of error 1-49 challenging certain findings of fact, the trial court did not err as substantial evidence supports each of its findings.

B. With respect to assignments of error 50-53 challenging certain conclusions of law, the trial court did not err as the conclusions flow from the findings, which are supported by substantial evidence.

II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the January 19, 2012 hearing when the court issued its findings and conclusions and orders, the trial judge painstakingly summarized the facts in evidence at trial. (1/19/12 RP 1321-1380). Those facts are supported by the record as reflected in the exhibits and the testimony of each witness. (RP 1-1429). To avoid a duplicative statement of facts, Ms. Wixom incorporates by reference the judge's "complete and exhaustive outline of the facts that were and the evidence submitted to this Court." (1/19/12 RP 1380). Specific citations to the record will be made as the discussion of the issues necessitates.

The trial court entered extensive findings of fact, conclusions of law, and orders. (CP 1104-28; 1129-33; 1134-44; 1145-53;

1154-63; 1164-65; 1166-87). It awarded Ms. Wixom attorney fees of \$51,778.58 and costs of \$3,949.84 against Mr. Wixom and his counsel, jointly and severally. (CP 1166). The court concluded:

[Counsel] has abused his professional responsibilities and therefore the Court is making the award of attorney fees the joint and several responsibility of both [counsel] and Mr. Wixom. (CP 1126).

Mr. Wixom and counsel appealed. (CP 1190).

III. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court properly rejected admission of Ms. Wixom's guilty plea agreement pursuant to ER 410.

ER 410(a) provides in relevant part:

Except as otherwise provided in this rule, evidence of a plea of guilty, later withdrawn, or a plea of nolo contendere, or of an offer to plead guilty or nolo contendere to the crime charged or any other crime, or of statements made in connection with, and relevant to, any of the foregoing pleas or offers, is not admissible in any civil or criminal proceeding against the person who made the plea or offer.

The standard of review for a conclusion regarding the applicability of ER 410 is de novo. *State v. Hatch*, 165 Wn. App. 212, 217, 267 P.3d 473 (2011). The purpose of the rule is to encourage the disposition of criminal cases through plea bargaining by allowing an accused to participate candidly in plea discussions, without the fear that his plea or plea-related statements will be used

against him at trial, civil or criminal. *State v. Nowinski*, 124 Wn. App. 617, 628, 102 P.3d 840 (2004).

Mr. Wixom argues that by twice failing to object properly under ER 410 to admission of the guilty plea agreement, Ms.

Wixom waived any objections. The agreement was included in Mr.

Wixom's ER 904 notice and she objected on the grounds of relevance and a violation of ER 1005 (public records). CP 678.

When offered at trial, Ms. Wixom voiced no other objection.

(12/7/11 RP 769). She did, however, ask the court to readdress the issue of admitting the plea agreement because it was prohibited under ER 410. (*Id.* at 790-91). The court, in its discretion, did reconsider admission of the agreement and decided to reject the exhibit under ER 410:

Under ER 410, as I am reading it and understand this rule, evidence of a plea of guilty later withdrawn – which is what we have in Exhibit P-10 – or of any statements made in connection with and relevant to any of the foregoing pleas or offers is not admissible in any civil or criminal proceeding against the person who made the plea or offer. So I think ER 410 excludes from admissibility P-10 so I'll grant that motion.

I will allow [counsel] to question Ms. Wixom, in the spirit of 613, about her statement in the deposition that she had not been charged and anything that is reasonably related to the fact that she actually was charged, which I don't think's being disputed. I

think everyone acknowledges she was charged. But I'll let you question her about that, but I'm going to grant the motion to strike on P-10. So P-10 now based on that ruling is not admitted. (12/7/11 RP 800-01).

De novo review of this question of law shows that the trial court correctly interpreted ER 410, which, by its very terms, applied to the plea agreement and the guilty plea that was withdrawn by Ms. Wixom. *Hatch*, 165 Wn. App. at 217. Once the evidence rule is properly interpreted, the admission or refusal of evidence lies within the sound discretion of the court. *Reese v. Stroh*, 128 Wn.2d 300, 310, 907 P.2d 282 (1995). Discretion is abused only if no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. *State v. Woolworth*, 30 Wn. App. 901, 910, 639 P.2d 216 (1981). The court did not abuse its discretion by rejecting the plea agreement as an exhibit because it properly reconsidered the issue under ER 410, properly applied the rule, and properly took the view any reasonable person would have taken. *Id*.

Mr. Wixom also argues that the waiver of inadmissibility of statements precludes application of ER 410. He is mistaken. The plea agreement contained this provision:

8. Waiver of inadmissibility of Statements: LINDA WIXOM agrees to waive the inadmissibility of statements, if any, made in the course of plea

discussions with the United States, pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(f), except any such statement made during a "free talk" proffer. This waiver shall apply if she withdraws any of her guilty pleas or breaches this Plea Agreement. LINDA WIXOM acknowledges that any statements she makes during the change of plea hearing would be admissible against her in the United States's case-inchief if she withdraws from or breaches this Plea Agreement. (CP 771).

In United States v. Mezzanatto, 513 U.S. 196, 210, 115 S.

Ct. 797, 130 L. Ed.2d 697 (1995), the court held that absent some affirmative indication that the agreement was entered into unknowingly or involuntarily, an agreement to waive the exclusionary provisions of the plea statement rules is valid and enforceable. Read as a whole, however, it is clear the intent of the waiver clause here was to make any statements by Ms. Wixom during plea discussions admissible in any criminal trial prosecuted by the United States. A waiver is strictly construed against the government. See, e.g., United States v. Ready, 82 F.3d 551, 559 (2nd Cir. 1996). So viewed, the waiver clause is inapplicable in the context of this state court action to modify the parenting plan.

Even if the court had erred by excluding the plea agreement, the error was harmless as Mr. Wixom's counsel was nonetheless allowed to question Ms. Wixom and other witnesses at length about

the plea agreement and its provisions. (See 11/8/11 RP 116-22; 11/28/11 RP 33-34, 86; 11/29/11RP 377-78, 381, 450, 513-61; 12/7/11 RP 620-21, 623-24, 627-28, 643-54). An error committed by the trial court in refusing to admit cumulative evidence is harmless error. Kimball v. Otis Elevator Co., 89 Wn. App. 169, 173, 947 P.2d 1275 (1997) (quoting Havens v. C&D Plastics, Inc., 124 Wn.2d 158, 169-70, 876 P.2d 435 (1994)). The evidence need not be identical to that which is admitted; instead harmless error, if error at all, results where evidence is excluded which is, in substance, the same as other evidence which is admitted. Havens, 124 Wn.2d at 170.

The essence of the plea agreement and the circumstances from which it arose had already been admitted through witness testimony in the trial. The agreement itself was merely cumulative and the trial court's refusal to admit this evidence was undoubtedly harmless. There was no error. *Havens*, *supra*.

B. The trial court properly entered findings of fact 68, 71, 88, and 136 as they were supported by substantial evidence.

Mr. Wixom argues that undisputed evidence shows that Ms. Wixom was not in compliance with her federal probation and deferred prosecution because she knowingly lied when she

answered in a deposition that she had not been charged with anything. (CP 855). To the contrary, evidence in the record shows that she was compliant and did not intend to deceive anyone when she denied being charged with a crime. (FF 133, CP 1119; 11/29/11 RP 377-78). Indeed, Ms. Wixom corrected the mistake when she signed her deposition. (*Id.*; CP 1007).

The guardian ad litem (GAL) met with Ms. Wixom three times. (11/8/11 RP 114). She had been addicted to hydrocodone, competed treatment, and was still participating in the Washington Recovery Assistance Program for Pharmacists (WRAPP). (*Id.* at 115-16, 118). Ms. Wixom had gone through 70 UAs, all of which were negative. (*Id.* at 120-21). The GAL talked with the federal probation officer, who reported Ms. Wixom was in complete compliance. (11/28/11 RP 33-34). Curiously, in August 2011, Mr. Wixom reported allegations of current drug use by Ms. Wixom when the issue had never been raised before by him either when he filed his counter-petition for modification in March 2011 or just two month prior in June 2011 when the GAL spoke to him. (11/28/11 RP 34-35, CP 165).

William Rhodes, the program manager for WRAPP, testified Ms. Wixom was compliant in the program and was in full sustained remission. (11/30/11 RP 535; 543-545, 550, 561).

Ms. Wixom testified at trial that she had been federally charged and had pleaded guilty. (12/7/11 RP 643). But she was allowed to withdraw her plea and entered into a deferred prosecution agreement. (Id. at 644, 647). Ms. Wixom stated she was not aware of ever violating any of her probation requirements. (Id. at 648). Her guilty plea had been entered on February 18, 2009, and the dissolution was entered March 3, 2009. (Id. at 651). He was aware of the federal charges. (Id. at 651-52). Ms. Wixom testified she had answered in a deposition that she had not been charged with anything, but later changed that answer. (Id. at 653). She was confused at the time between a charge and a conviction and did not intend to mislead anyone. (Id.). Ms. Wixom told the GAL about the criminal case, her federal probation, the pharmacy board's investigation, and her participation in WRAPP. (Id. at 64-65).

Substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact, which thus should not be disturbed. *Thorndike v. Hesperian*

Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 575, 343 P.2d 183 (1959); In re Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 810, 854 P.2d 629 (1993).

C. The trial court properly entered findings of fact 90, 91, 92,93, 94, and 194 as they were supported by substantial evidence.

Mr. Wixom argues there was undisputed evidence of domestic violence and recent drug use by residents of Ms. Wixom's home. The record, however, supports the trial court's findings and conclusion.

Mr. Wixom points to the GAL's testimony where J.W., the younger brother, reported "sometimes [A.W., the older brother] scares him, flinches like he is going to hit him." (11/28/11 RP 50). But the GAL went on to say "I think that is pretty typical in a brother relationship." (*Id.*). This is not domestic violence. RCW 26.50.010(1).

Mr. Wixom further contends A.W. used drugs while living with him. (CP 91, 503; 11/8/11 RP 181). Accordingly, a present-day detriment exists in Ms. Wixom's home because A.W. and J.W. now live there. The court's finding of fact 90, however, was based on the uncontroverted evidence and the lack of evidence presented by Mr. Wixom:

The evidence is uncontroverted that [A.W.'s]

experimentation with drugs occurred while he was primarily residing with Richard Wixom. There is no evidence that [sister T.W.'s] experimentation with marijuana was while she was in Linda Wixom's home or that [T.W.] was even aware she had used marijuana until [T.W.] disclosed it to the GAL. There is no evidence to suggest that either [A.W.] or [T.W.] have continued their drug experimentation during the last year. The drug use of [A.W.] or [T.W.] cannot be a basis to find that there is a detriment to [J.W.'s] wellbeing in Linda Wixom's home. (CP 1114).

J.W. told the GAL his older brother was "really nice" since he moved into the mother's home. (11/8/11 RP 143). He did say he got scared when A.W. gave him charley horses and flinched at him like he was going to hit him. (*Id.*) Although the GAL testified [J.W.] told her that [A.W.] picked on him "present day," no testimony was further elicited where it had occurred. The GAL further opined these incidents were not domestic violence in any event. (11/29/11 RP 260). Indeed, [J.W.] did not report to his mental health counselor that he was traumatized. (11/8/11 RP 78). The GAL found there was no detriment in either home. (*Id.* at 155).

Based on this substantial evidence in the record, the court appropriately entered findings of fact 91, 92, 93, and 94. *In re Marriage of Kovacs*, 121 Wn.2d at 210.

The court also entered challenged finding of fact 194:

Had Richard Wixom conceded Linda Wixom's position before the end of trial, the Court likely would have dismissed Richard Wixom's petition at the conclusion of his case because the evidence he presented, even looked at in a light most favorable to him, likely would not have risen to the level necessary to prevail on his petition to modify. (CP 1124).

The background for that finding, however, was that in the afternoon on the last day of trial, Mr. Wixom disclosed, upon direct questioning by the court, that he was not contesting Ms. Wixom's petition to modify the parenting plan regarding T.W. and agreed with the GAL's recommendations. (12/19/11 RP 1212, 1216, 1253). This again is substantial evidence supporting the court's finding, which cannot be disturbed. *In re Marriage of Kovacs*, 121 Wn.2d at 810.

D. The trial court properly entered findings of fact 151, 152, 157, and 160 as they were supported by substantial evidence.

Mr. Wixom argues Ms. Wixom violated the parenting plan provision requiring two days' notice if she would be late picking up J.W. on July 29, 2011. The court's findings reflect that she gave one-day notice to him by email on July 28, 2011, she was going to be late. (FF 152, CP 1121). He acknowledged receiving the email that day. (*Id.*).

The court also found that both parties had not given the two-day notice to each other in the past. But the "violations" were de minimis at worst and a finding against the mother that she had violated the parenting plan would have been equally applicable to the father. Testimony supported challenged findings of fact 152 and 153. (11/8/11 RP 163-68; 12/19/11 RP 1125-29, 1149-58).

Mr. Wixom does not present argument on assignments of error challenging findings of fact 157 and 160. They are therefore deemed waived. *Bercier v. Kiga*, 127 Wn. App. 809, 824, 103 P.3d 232 (2004), *review denied*, 155 Wn.2d 1015 (2005).

E. The trial court properly entered findings of fact 140 and141 as they were supported by substantial evidence.

Mr. Wixom claims the GAL was biased against him because he views the evidence purportedly supporting his allegations of bias differently than the trial judge. But the trier of fact decides credibility questions and the appellate court will not disturb its determination. *Duc Tan v. Le*, 177 Wn.2d 649, 670, 300 P.3d 356 (2013).

The challenged findings state:

140. Mr. Caruso insinuated Ms. Lund was biased in favor of Linda Wixom when Ms. Lund used the word "we" when discussing a court appearance for

an ex parte restraining order. Ms. Lund testified at trial she used the word "we" to reference the fact that Mr. Caruso, Ms. Swennumson, and Ms. Lund were in a hearing. "We" is the proper pronoun for two or more people.

141. There is absolutely no evidence to suggest Ms. Lund was biased towards or aligned with one side during this hearing or any other hearing. (CP 1120).

Initially, it should be noted that Mr. Wixom does not make any argument in his brief pertaining to finding of fact 140. He points to supposed examples of bias from the GAL's action or inaction, but they do not support any showing of bias. Since there is no argument relating to finding of fact 140, that assignment of error is waived. *Bercier*, 127 Wn.2d at 184.

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